FILED
SID J. WHITE
FEB 14 1985

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT

#### STATE OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By Chief Deputy Clerk

BARBARA URSIN, Plaintiff/Petitioner, -vs-LAW ENFORCEMENT INSURANCE COMPANY, LTD., a foreign corporation, FLORIDA SHERIFFS' SELF-INSURANCE FUND, AUBREY ROGERS, individually and as Case No: 65, 523 Sheriff of Collier County, Florida, AL BEATTY, individually ) and as Deputy Sheriff of Collier County, Florida, and, GEORGE SNIDER, individually and as Deputy of Collier County, Florida, Defendants/Respondents.

#### BRIEF OF PETITIONER

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE TWENTIETH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR COLLIER COUNTY, FLORIDA

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND CASE

Petitioner, BARBARA URSIN, seeks reversal of the decision of the District Court of Appeal, Second District rendered June 20, 1984 entitled Ursin v. Law Enforcement Insurance Company, Ltd., etc., et. al., 450 So.2d 1282 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984) (A.8-9). The Petitioner was the original Plaintiff below and Appellant before the District Court of Appeal. The Respondents, LAW ENFORCEMENT INSURANCE COMPANY LTD., a foreign corporation, FLORIDA SHERIFF'S SELF-INSURANCE FUND, AUBREY ROGERS, individually and as Sheriff of Collier County, Florida, AL BEATTY, individually and as Deputy Sheriff of Collier County, Florida, and GEORGE SNIDER, individually and as Deputy of Collier County, Florida, were the original Defendants in the trial forum and the Appellees before the District Court of Appeal. This was an appeal by the Petitioner from an Order dismissing her Complaint with prejudice entered by the Circuit Court in and for Collier County. District Court of Appeal, Second District, affirmed the lower court's ruling.

In this brief, the parties will be referred to by the positions they occupy before this court. References to the record are as follows:

- (R. ) for original record on Appeal.
- (A. ) for appendix to Brief of Petitioner.

Since this is an appeal from an Order granting a Motion to Dismiss Petitioner's Complaint, all facts alleged in the Complaint must be accepted as true. Orlovski v. Solid Surf, Inc., 405 So.2d 1363 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981); Fletcher v. Williams, 153 So.2d 759 (Fla. 1st DCA 1963).

The basic facts underlying both Counts I and II of the Petitioner's Complaint concern the activities of the Defendants and one, EARL BAUMGARDT (hereafter BAUMBARDT). In January of 1978, BAUMGARDT was sentenced to a total of twenty (20) years in prison as a result of his convictions for rape, kidnapping, and robbery. BAUMGARDT was convicted by the Circuit Court of Collier County, Florida. BAUMGARDT was then committed to the Mentally Disordered Sex Offenders (MDSO) program. (A.2), (R.6).

In the latter part of 1980, after having served only two (2) years of his sentence and with approximately eighteen (18) years of his prison sentence remaining to be served, BAUMGARDT was returned to Collier County for a hearing on the clarification of his status as a mentally disordered sex offender. BAUMGARDT was thus returned to the custody of the Respondents herein. While awaiting his hearing on MDSO status, BAUMBARDT was made a trustee at the Collier County Jail. As a trustee, he was not closely supervised or controlled. On January 13, 1981, BAUMGARDT walked away from a trustee kitchen detail, and within moments of his escape, kidnapped the Petitioner. BAUMGARDT seized the Petitioner at the Collier County Court House where she was an employee and

then forced her to drive to Lee County where he sexually molested her. BAUMGARDT later released the Petitioner in Punta Gorda, Florida. Petitioner has alleged that BAUMBARDT'S actions caused her grievous physical and emotional injuries. (A.2,3), (R.6,7).

Count I of the Petitioner's Complaint focuses on the fact that BAUMGARDT was negligently assigned to a trustee kitchen detail by Respondents BEATTY and SNIDER while BAUMBARDT was in the custody, care and control of Respondents BEATTY, SNIDER and ROGERS. Petitioner alleges that the negligence of the Respondents flows from the fact that they knew that trustees were not closely supervised or controlled, that they were aware of BAUMGARDT'S previous history of rape, robbery and kidnapping, and that the Respondents knew that trustees could, without any difficulty, walk away from the Collier County Jail. (A.1-4), (R.5-8).

Count II of the Complaint alleges that Respondent, ROGERS, as Sheriff of Collier County, negligently failed to instruct, supervise and control his deputies, Respondents BEATTY and SNIDER, in that Respondent, ROGERS should have known that dangerous persons, such as BAUMGARDT were being given trustee status; Respondent, ROGERS had the power to prevent such negligent of granting of trustee status, but failed to exercise that power to protect the public. The Petitioner goes on to allege in Count II that, as a result of the foregoing, Respondent, ROGERS actually approved or ratified the reckless and wanton actions of Respondents, BEATTY and SNIDER in making BAUMGARDT a trustee,

notwithstanding the fact that all three Respondents were aware of the "known dangerous propensities" of BAUMGARDT. (A.4-5), (R.8-9).

As previously mentioned, all Respondents filed a Motion to Dismiss, which was granted by the Trial Court (A.7), (R.1).

Appeal was taken by Petitioner to the Second District Court of Appeal. The Second District Court of Appeal affirmed the Trial Court on the basis that sovereign immunity bars recovery by the Petitioner in this suit. (A.8-9). The District Court of Appeal acknowledged that it's decision expressly and directly conflicts with the decision of the First District Court of Appeal in Smith v. Department of Corrections, 432 So.2d 1338 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983), (A.9), and this Court accepted jurisdiction by it's Order of January 25, 1985 (A.10).

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

#### ARGUMENT I

The Complaint states the cause of action for which sovereign immunity has been waived as Section 768.28 Florida Statutes is now construed. The decision to place BAUMGARDT in the trustee program on kitchen duty is an operational decision involving the implementation of an already established policy rather than a basic policy decision affecting the course of the whole trustee program which is not challenged.

The conflicting decision <u>Smith v. Department of Corrections</u>, 432 So.2d 1338 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983), correctly applies the prior decisions of the Supreme Court to the factual situation presented. Case law involving the same questions in Washington State, where many of the sovereign immunity principles adopted by the Supreme Court originated, supports the decision of the First District Court of Appeal, as does Federal case law.

The Second District Court of Appeal has abandoned the planning/operational distinction and incorrectly applied the principles of Evangelical United Brethren Church v. State, 67
Wash.2d 246, 407 P.2d 440 (1965) and Commercial Carrier
Corporation v. Indian River City, 371 So.2d 1010 (Fla. 1979), with the result that it now immunizes any discretionary government function.

The Fifth District Court of Appeal has correctly analyzed and refuted this line of Second District Cases in Huhn v. Dixie

Insurance Company, 453 So.2d 70 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984). The concurring opinion in Smith, supra, also analyzed the earlier Second District decisions and correctly anticipated that they would lead to confusion in the area of sovereign immunity doctrine. The actions of the Respondents in this case also created a known hazardous condition from which an operational duty arises to protect the public pursuant to City of St. Petersburg v. Collom, 419 So.2d 1082 (Fla. 1982).

The types of decisions immunized by the Second District are no different than those to which liabilty already attaches under the tort of False Imprisonment. The fact that officials have some discretion in making these decisions does not require immunity.

#### ARGUMENT II

The Supreme Court should abolish or severely restrict the judicially created exemption from the Legislature's waiver of sovereign immunity. The common law prior to the waiver contained inherently unsound doctrines regarding municipal tort liability. The Legislature exercised its constitutional authority to waive sovereign immunity on behalf of all political subdivisions including municipalities by enacting Section 768.28 Florida Statutes. The Statute broadly waives immunity subject to specified limitations and the Legislature consciously omitted any exemption for "discretionary functions". One purpose was to eliminate the confusion in the law caused by varied and contradictory semantic tests.

The Court's purpose in <u>Commercial Carrier</u> was to preserve the constitutional pattern of distribution of basic policy making decisions in government. However, by carving out a judicially created exemption from the Statute, the Court violated the Legislature's constitutional authority to make the basic policy decisions in this area. Encouragement of making these basic policy decisions by Courts on a "case-by-case" basis has undermined the Legislature's effort and resulted once again in unsound law.

Subsequent Supreme Court decisions have failed to clarify the law. Some lower courts have entirely given up trying to interpret the law. Others, notably the Second District, have returned to the inherently unsound principles which existed prior to the enactment of the waiver of sovereign immunity.

The Court should abandon the judicially created exemption from the Sovereign immunity statute. In the alternative, the Court should adopt the course of the Supreme Court of Washington and severely restrict the exemption to those actions which actually involve basic policy decisions, and only where it can be shown that such a policy decision was actually made, consciously balancing risks and advantages. This will serve to limit the exemption to the purpose for which it was intended and prevent it from engulfing the rule that sovereign immunity is waived.

#### ARGUMENT I

THE COMPLAINT STATES A CAUSE OF ACTION FOR WHICH SOVEREIGN
IMMUNITY HAS BEEN WAIVED IN SECTION 768.28 FLORIDA STATUTES UNDER
THE CRITERIA SET FORTH BY THIS COURT.

The Legislature by enacting Section 768.28 Florida Statutes waived sovereign immunity for liability for torts on behalf of the state and it's agencies and subdivisions for the negligent or wrongful acts or omissions of any employee of the agencies on subdivision acting within the scope of his office or employment, subject to the limitations set forth in the act, Section 762.28 Florida Statutes. This Court, in the landmark case of Commercial Carrier Corporation v. Indian River City, 371 So.2d 1010 (Fla. 1979), recognized that the legislature had omitted from the Statute the express exception for "discretionary acts" which is found in the Federal Tort Claims Act. It did hold that some discretionary functions of government were exempted from judicial review, but only those which involved the "planning" level of governmental decision making. In adopting the analysis of the California Supreme Court in Johnson v. State, 69 Cal.2d 72, 73 Cal. Rptr. 240, 447 P.2d 352 (1968), the Court held that "operational" levels of decision making by governmental agencies were not immune. Id., at 1022. This distinction is set forth as follows:

Planning level functions are generally interpreted to be those requiring basic policy decisions, while operational level functions are those that implement policy. Id., at 1021.

It is evident that the actions by the Respondents as set forth in the Complaint do not involve basic policy decisions, but only the implementation of policy. No challenge has been made to the existence or validity of the trustee program at the Collier County Jail. Petitioner only challenges (1) the decision to place BAUMGARDT, a prisoner temporarily entrusted to the County Jail by the Department of Corrections for purposes of attending a hearing; and a person whose propensity to commit acts such as those suffered by the Plaintiff was well known to the Respondents, on this trustee program and assign him to kitchen detail where there was no close supervision and from whence he could easily escape to commit these acts and (2) the negligent training and supervision related to this program which led to this occurrence. See Willis v. Dade County School Board, 411 So.2d 245 (Fla. 3rd DCA) rev. denied, 418 So.2d 1278 (Fla. 1982) (creation of a teaching position is a planning function; filling of the position is operational).

The Court in <u>Commercial Carrier</u>, supra, further approved the four pronged test taken from the Washington State case of <u>Evangelical United Brethren Church v. State</u> 67 Wash.2d 246, 407 P.2d 440 (1965). The test quoted in <u>Commercial Carrier</u>, supra, at page 1019 sets forth four questions, each of which must be answered in the affirmative in order to bring the challenged act within the exemption from the waiver of sovereign immunity.

As applied to the facts in the instant case, the questions must be answered as follows:

1. Does the challenged act, omission, or decision necessarily involve a basic governmental policy, program, or objective?

The answer is no; giving BAUMGARDT, a dangerous state prisoner being temporarily held at the Collier County Jail for a hearing, trustee status as a kitchen worker was in no way an intregal part of the trustee program at the Collier County Jail.

2. Is the questioned act, omission, or decision essential to the realization or accomplishment of that policy program or objective as opposed to one which would not change the course or direction of the policy of program or objective?

Again, the question virtually answers itself in the negative under these facts. Had BAUMGARDT been placed on kitchen detail, the "course" of the Collier County trustee program would not have been affected in any way.

3. Does the act, omission, or decision require the exercise of basis policy evaluation, judgment, and expertise on the part of the governmental agency involved?

The answer here must be no unless it was "basic policy" to place known dangerous criminals in trustee positions.

4. Does governmental agencies involved possess a requisite constitutional, statutory, or lawful authority and duty to do or make the challenged act, omission or decision?

The answer here must be yes; again Petitioner is not challenging the existence or validity of the trustee program at the Collier County Jail.

Certainly, it is not the case that all four of the above questions can be answered "clearly and unequivocally" in the affirmative, and therefore the Complaint should not have been dismissed.

In a decision on the facts so markedly similar that the Second DCA acknowledged direct conflict, the First District Court of Appeal held in <a href="Smith v. Department of Corrections">Smith v. Department of Corrections</a>, 432 So.2d 1338 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983), that the reclassification of a dangerous prisoner to minimum custody status failed to meet this test and that the trial court had erred in dismissing the Complaint of <a href="Smith">Smith</a> who was abducted and shot by the prisoner three months after he escaped. The Court found that while inmate classification is necessary to the maintenance of a prison system, this particular inmate's reclassification appeared to be made for reasons unrelated to the functioning of the prison system without use of agency expertise.

First District Court of Appeal using the four pronged test ruled similarly in <u>Bellavance v. State</u>, 390 So.2d 422 (Fla. 1st DCA 1980), when it found no immunity for a state mental hospital which negligently released a violent patient who injured a third party. In discussing questions two and three, the First DCA stated as follows:

"We are unable, however, to answer to questions two and three in the affirmative. Paraphrased to the instant situation, we must ask: is the act of releasing Riccardelli essential to the realization or accomplishment of the Baker Act policy of insuring the least restrictive means of intervention and treatment for mentally ill patients, or is it one which would not change the course or direction of that policy? We think that is the latter, for we are hard pressed to see how the act of releasing, or for that matter, not releasing, Riccardelli would materially affect the ends and purposes of the Baker Act. Further, it is a specific individual act which simply does not rise to the character of a 'basic policy evaluation' as suggested by question three."

It is significant that the Supreme Court of Washington state, from which the Evangelical Brethren test originates, appears to be in line with the First District Court of Appeal's analysis of these types of cases. See for example; Eldredge v.

Kamp Kachesse Youth Services, Inc., 90 Wash.2d 402, 583 P.2d 626 (1978) (Decision to reassign escaped juvenile to same facility without increased supervision did not meet the tests set forth in Evangelical United Brethern, supra.), and Peterson v. State, 100 Wash.2d 421 671 P.2d 230 (1983) (Decision of psychiatrist at state hospital against seeking an additional ninety (90) days involuntary commitment of mental patient was not a "decision necessarily involving a basic governmental policy, program, or objective.").

United States Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit has held that the Federal Tort Claims Act, which contains an <u>express</u> exemption from the sovereign immunity waiver for discretionary functions, does not allow immunity nor shield the government from responsibility for negligently releasing a homicidal prisoner on parole. <u>Payton v. United States</u>, 636 Fed.2d 132 (5th Circuit 1981).

The analysis for Count II of the Complaint is almost identical and will not be repeated.

The Second District Court of Appeals held that the activities described in the Complaint where protected under sovereign immunity. It did not however, hold that they were planning level

activities which are exempted from the broad waiver of governmental immunity under <u>Commercial Carrier</u>. Rather, it followed its own line of cases which holds that discretionary governmental activities are immune even when they are clearly operational.

The genesis of this line of cases is Everton v. Willard, 426 So.2d 996 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983) (Review by Supreme Court pending). In that case, one person was killed and two others seriously injured by an intoxicated motorist. The motorists had been stopped approximately 10 to 20 minutes before the accident for improper driving by a Deputy Sheriff who observed that the motorists had been drinking and was also informed of this fact by the motorist himself. He nevertheless allowed the motorist to drive away, neither arresting him for driving while under the influence nor detaining him to further ascertain the extent of his intoxication. The Second District Court of Appeal recognized that "clearly whether discretionary or not, Deputy Parker's acts were in the operational field of law enforcement for Pinellas County". Id., at 999. The Court nevertheless held that the Deputy Parker's acts were immune, specifically rejecting the requirement of Commercial Carrier that to fall within the exemption of the legislature's waiver, the acts must be of a basic policy making nature.

Although the Second DCA nominally applied the <u>Evangelical</u> four pronged test, it is clear from the reading of the entire

opinion that the crux of the matter for the District Court of Appeal is that this particular operational activity involves the exercise of <u>discretion</u>. Thus, for example, in answering question number (2) of that test, the Court reasoned as follows:

Is the act or decision essential to the accomplishment of that program as opposed to one which would change the course of the program? Yes, because we believe that to remove discretion from the operational level of law enforcement would make a radical change in the ability to maintain a reasonable workable system of law enforcement. Id., at 1003.

The obvious flaw in this reasoning is that it literally equates discretion with immunity, and conversely the lack of immunity with the complete removal of discretion. Thus, the Second DCA reinstated the discretionary v. ministerial test for sovereign immunity despite the leglislative waiver of sovereign immunity and the clear decision of the Supreme Court in Commercial Carrier that the line of cases which spawned this test had no application after the enactment of the waiver. Commercial Carrier supra, at 1016. The Second DCA therefore held in effect that because police officers duty to arrest involve the exercise of discretion, a police officer may totally ignore that duty without incurring responsibility to the persons endangered, no matter how negligent the non-feasance nor how dangerous the condition created by it.

This of course opened a Pandora's Box from which have flown numerous new situations in which the government's non-feasance or

misfeasance was immune, including the instant case. Cape Coral v. Duvall, 436 So.2d 136, Rodriguez v. City of Cape Coral, 451 So.2d 513 (Peace officer's non-feasance of statutory duty to take intoxicated persons to a treatment facility when they appear to be in immediate need of emergency treatment or unable to make rational decisions, HELD: Immune because officer must exercise discretion in determining whether person "appears" to require treatment.) Newmann v. Davis Water and Waste, Inc., 433 So.2d 559 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983) (agency which permitted treatment plant to be built subject to proviso that it be fenced immune from non-feasance of duty to inspect and determine whether fence had actually been placed as required).

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