WOOA

FILED

MAR 6 1985

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 65,523

BARBARA URSIN,

Plaintiff/Petitioner,

vs.

LAW ENFORCEMENT INSURANCE COMPANY, LTD., a foreign corporation; FLORIDA SHERIFFS' SELF-INSURANCE FUND; AUBREY ROGERS, individually and as Sheriff of Collier County, Florida; AL BEATTY, individually and as Deputy Sheriff of Collier County, Florida; and GEORGE SNIDER, individually and as Deputy of Collier County, Florida

Defendants/Respondents.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS
FLORIDA SHERIFFS' SELF-INSURANCE FUND,
AUBREY ROGERS, AL BEATTY AND GEORGE SNIDER

APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, SECOND DISTRICT, STATE OF FLORIDA

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Argument I

The Circuit Court and the District Court of Appeal,
Second District of Florida, should be affirmed for
upholding sovereign immunity in the area of discretionary
functions. Both of these courts correctly applied the
tests of Commercial Carrier Corp. v. Indian River County,
371 So.2d 1010 (Fla. 1979), to the governmental function
of the trustee program. Everton v. Willard, 426 So.2d 996
(Fla. 2d DCA 1983), is a far better reasoned analysis of
the law applicable to sovereign immunity than is Smith v.
Dept. of Corrections, 432 So.2d 1338 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983),
although the instant case is factually distinguishable
from both cases and is dependent upon neither. This case
satisfies all of the four tests pronounced in Commercial
Carrier.

Argument II

Sovereign immunity should apply to "planning" functions of government. Section 768.28, Florida

Statutes, is appropriately subject to judicial interpretation by this Court, and has been properly so interpreted. This Court has carefully analyzed law from foreign jurisdictions and has established standards which should be

followed here. The rules adopted in <u>Commercial Carrier</u>, <u>supra</u>, do not contravene any legislative provisions, but, rather, interpret them.

Argument III

v. United States, 679 F.2d 475 (1982), by referring to a panel decision. In fact, the panel was reversed by the full court on rehearing en banc. The full court in Payton ruled that the "decision to release a prisoner on parole is a discretionary function . . . " Id. at 483.

Similarly, in Martinez v. California, 444 U.S. 277, 62

L.Ed.2d 481, 100 S.Ct. 553, reh. den. 445 U.S. 920, 63

L.Ed.2d 606, 100 S.Ct. 1285 (1980), the Supreme Court of the United States held that judicial review of parole classifications would inhibit the exercise of discretion. The Petitioner's argument would eliminate the entire trustee concept.

ARGUMENT I

THE PRINCIPLES SET FORTH BY THIS COURT IN COMMERCIAL CARRIER, PRECLUDE THE CAUSE OF ACTION AS SET FORTH IN THE COMPLAINT, UNDER THE DOCTRINE OF SOVEREIGN IMMUNITY.

While having considerably altered her arguments, the Petitioner mistakenly presents here the decision of this Court in Commercial Carrier Corp. v. Indian River County, 371 So.2d 1010 (#1a. 1979), as supportive of her position. Instead, said decision clearly calls for the imposition of sovereign immunity for the cause of action sought in the Complaint. Commercial Carrier, supra, was thoroughly examined in Everton v. Willard, 426 So.2d 996 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983), which also dealt with the issue of the scope of sovereign immunity for the actions of a deputy sheriff acting within the scope of his employment. The Second District Court of Appeal, knowing full well the limitations and principles set forth in Commercial Carrier, supra, applied correctly that case first to Everton, supra, and later to this case in Ursin v. Law Enforcement Insurance Co., Ltd., etc., et al., 450 So.2d 1282 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984).

The Second District Court of Appeal was met with the factual allegations of Petitioner, which presented an appealing scenario for the imposition of liability.

Regardless, that court was not overcome by emotion, but instead logically faced the task of analyzing a most perplexing issue - government immunity. Indeed, as noted in Everton, supra, it seems that sovereign immunity is one of those areas of the legal world which "[S]eems to become more tangled each time the courts attempt to untangle it." Id. at 999.

As in the instant case, it is generally agreed by the courts that immunity exists on two different levels, governmental immunity for the state and its subdivisions and personal immunity for officers and employees of the state and its subdivisions. Each "stands on its own" and is governed by different tests.

As a principle of both case law and state statutes, initially it is widely accepted that immunity for the state must exist for some functions so that the government can govern. As one would expect, the disagreement centers on the breadth of the protective net of immunity.

Commercial Carrier, supra, contains two tests for determining which governmental immunity attaches to the state or its political subdivisions. Under these two tests, it is clear that the Respondents are protected by governmental immunity in this case. At the heart of the decision is the policy consideration of whether the extension of immunity vel non for a particular action would hamper the

ability of the government to govern. Thus, this decision must be guided by that consideration. Id. at 1018-1019. In defending this concept of immunity, this Court stated, "Public policy and maintenance of the integrity of our system of government necessitate this immunity, however unwise, unpopular, mistaken or neglectful a particular decision or act might be." Id. at 1019. With this statement in mind, this Court proceeded to formulate two touchstones which could be used to decide whether immunity should attach.

The first test is the discretionary function test formulated in Evangelical United Brethren Church v. State, 67 Wash.2d 246, 407 P.2d 440 (1965). This formula consists of answering a series of four questions directed to the act upon which liability is sought to be imposed. If the answer to each is affirmative, then governmental immunity is found. These four questions are:

- (1) Does the challenged act, omission or decision necessarily involve a basic governmental policy, program or objective?
- (2) Is the questioned act, omission or decision essential to the realization or accomplishment of that policy, program or objective as opposed to one which would not change the course or direction of the policy, program or objective?

- (3) Does the act, omission or decision require the exercise of basic policy evaluation, judgment and expertise on the part of the governmental agency involved?
- (4) Does the governmental agency involved possess the requisite constitutional, statutory or lawful authority and duty to do or make the challenged act, omission or decision?

Id. at 445.

Insofar as the Petitioner has conceded, correctly, that the answer to question four is in the affirmative (Brief of Petitioner, as Appellant, filed in District Court of Appeal, Second District, p. 7), the inquiry here will be directed to ascertaining answers to the first three questions.

The first question is whether the challenged act, i.e., making Baumgardt a trustee, involves a basic governmental policy, program or objective. The answer to this question must be an unequivocal "yes". The reason is that the trustee system is an important ingredient in maintaining order and discipline in the county jail.

All persons incarcerated in jails, except pretrial detainees, are criminals and, therefore, <u>all</u> are a risk to society in some form. If Petitioner's contention is correct, there could be no trustee system because all

inmates and prisoners represent a risk to society to some degree. Without some established system of rewarding good behavior, as well as punishing improper behavior in the jail, it would be impossible to maintain order without resulting in the use of force. Thus, the trustee system does involve a basic governmental objective, i.e., the maintenance of order and discipline in the jail. The court in <u>Sands v. Wainwright</u>, 357 F.Supp. 1062, 1078 (M.D. Fla.) vacated on other grounds (5th Cir. 1973), cert. denied 94 S.Ct. 2403 (1974), noted,

Only a few must control the very many. Therefore, simply in order to maintain control of the prison society generally and of its individual constituents on a day to day basis, it becomes necessary for those entrusted by the state with the custodial function to utilize rewards and punishments.

Thus, it is beyond cavil that the trustee system forms an integral part of the plan for order and discipline in the jail and, if this Court were to open the door to liability, the ability of Respondents to properly perform their functions would be severely impaired. Finally, it is unquestionably true that the decision to make Baumgardt a trustee, and to classify trustees generally, was and is a part of the aforementioned governmental objectives.

The next task facing the Court is deciding whether the act of making Baumgardt a trustee was essential to the attainment of the governmental policy discussed above or whether the decision was a nonessential element of the attainment of the goals of that policy. In Everton, supra, the court noted that allowing police officers the discretion to arrest or not arrest was extremely important in attaining a workable system of law enforcement and that the failure to provide for this discretion by the courts, if they chose to impose liability for the exercise of this discretion, would work a radical change on law enforcement. An equally undesirable result would also occur here if liability were premised on the decisions of the sheriff and his deputies as to who are to become trustees in the Thus, the exercise of discretion as to which persons are named as trustees furthers the goal of encouraging satisfactory conditions in the jail. To foreclose the exercise of this discretion would essentially end the trustee program for all practical purposes.

Lastly, this Court must determine whether the act was dependent upon the exercise of policy evaluation, judgment or expertise by the sheriff and his deputies. Without question, the answer to this inquiry is positive. In Harrison v. Escambia County School Board, 419 So.2d 640 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982), the court was faced with the issue of

whether or not immunity attached to the Board's decision as to the location of school bus stops. That case, which has been cited by the Petitioner in discussing the answer to this question, noted that the location of school bus stops involves the consideration of innumerable factors, e.g., number of stops, the existing bus routes, number of pupils at each stop, etc. As a result, the court held this question would be answered affirmatively in that case. Id. at 643.

Surely, if the location of bus stops involves the exercise of basic policy evaluation, judgment and expertise, then the selection of trustees in the jail entails such considerations. As has been mentioned previously, the trustee system dramatically improves the ability of jailers to control the prison population under their charge. The unhampered discretion to select inmates as trustees is a powerful incentive for the inmates to conform their behavior to that which will make the administration of the jail feasible. Were this Court to allow the imposition of liability in this case, it would result in the curtailment of the trustee program and a concomitant rise in the difficulty of successfully managing the inmate population.

This Court ruled on the issues in <u>Harrison v.</u>
Escambia County, 419 So.2d 640 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982),

affirmed 434 So.2d 316 (Fla. 1983), which had been certified to it as being of great public importance. This Court approved the District Court's affirming of the trial court's ruling. The trial court had dismissed the Complaint.

Smith v. D. O.C., 432 So. 2d 1338 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983), a First District Court of Appeal case, relied upon by Petitioner, is not totally inconsistent with the decisions of this Court in Commercial Carrier, supra, and Rupp v. Bryant, 417 So.2d 658, S.Ct. Fla. 1982. Additionally, particular circumstances of Smith v. D.O.C. are unusual, which may account for the overreaching of the First District Court of Appeal in its attempt to permit recovery by the plaintiff. A single Department of Corrections employee caused the inmate to be classified and transferred to serve as his "houseboy" in spite of a prior escape The multiple escapes and the apparent direct inrecord. tervention by defendant Reddish in that case conceivably caused the First District Court to produce a strained interpretation of the Florida Supreme Court's holdings. The opinion by Judge Mills was concurred in specially by one judge and dissented to by the third judge. specially concurring opinion of Judge Ervin in Smith candidly recognizes a conflict with the Second District Court of Appeal, when he states:

The majority's opinion would seem, however, to conflict with those of the Second District Court of appeal in Everton v. Willard, et al., 426 So.2d 996 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983), and City of Cape Coral v. Duvall, 8 F.L.W. 366 (Fla. 2d DCA January 19, 1983), which absolved certain governmental bodies from any liability to persons injured by intoxicated motorists who, some time before the accidents, had been released by the public employer's law enforcement officers notwithstanding their knowledge of the inebriates' condition.

Smith at 1341.

Judge Thompson, in a well reasoned dissent in <u>Smith</u>, stated at pages 1341 through 1343:

. . . If there is any governmental sector in which immunity for judgmental decisions must be maintained, it is in our criminal justice and penal systems. Judges place convicted criminals on probation when, in their judgment, it is warranted. . . .

Under the foreseeability test approved by the majority, it is foreseeable that all inmates who escape or are released through official channels will commit a crime again simply because they have previously done so at least once. Under such a foreseeability test, judges and the state could be liable for injury or damage caused by a probationer. Commission and the state could be liable for injury or damage caused by a parolee. The DOC and the state could be liable for injury or damage caused by an escapee or by an inmate whose confinement status has been changed in accordance with DOC rules The majority's forseeand regulations. ability test is simply not applicable to

judgmental decisions such as those outlined above because they are immune from traditional theories of tort liability.

In Commercial Carrier Corp. v. Indian River County, 371 So.2d 1010, 1020 (Fla. 1979), the court said "even absent an express exception in section 768.28 for discretionary functions, certain policymaking, planning or judgment governmental functions cannot be the subject of traditional tort liability." Commercial Carrier relied heavily on Evangelical United Brethren v. State, 67 Wash.2d 246, 407 P.2d 440 (1966), involving a claim against the state of Washington by plaintiffs whose buildings had been destroyed by a fire set by an escapee from a state-maintained juvenile correctional facility. The plaintiffs in Evangelical United Brethren alleged the state of Washington was negligent in maintaihing an "open program" or minimum security at the facility, in assigning the escapee to the "open program", in assigning the escapee to a particular work detail within the facility, in failing to timely notify local law enforcement agencies of the escape. Evangelical United Brethren court held the state was immune from liability for its decision to have an "open program" and for the assignment of the escapee to that program. It further held that although the assignment of the escapee to the particular work detail of the facility and the failure to timely notify local law enforcement agencies of the escape did not involve immune conduct, the state was not liable on standard tort principles of lack of foreseeability and causation.

The following rationale used in Evangelical United Brethren and quoted in Commercial Carrier is instructive:

"The reason most frequently assigned is that in any organized society there

must be room for basic governmental policy decision and the implementation thereof, unhampered by the threat of fear of sovereign tort liability, or, as stated by one writer 'Liability cannot be imposed when condemnation of the acts or omissions relied upon necessarily brings into question the propriety of governmental objectives or programs or the decision of one who, with the authority to do so, determined that the acts or omissions involved should occur or that the risk which eventuated should be encountered for the advancement of governmental objectives.'" Peck, The Federal Tort Claims Act, 31 Wash.L.Rev. 207 (1956). . . Evangelical United Brethren at 444.

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